RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

12-26-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2019AP1677-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-vs.-

LAWRENCE C. PAINE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE ORDER DENYING PAINE'S WIS. STAT. § 974.06 POSTCONVICTION MOTION, FILED ON JUNE 10, 2019, IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING.
MILWAUKEE COUNTY CASE NO. 2004CF2380

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX

Respectfully submitted by:

Michael G. Soukup, 1089707

PINIX & SOUKUP, LLC
1200 East Capitol Drive, Suite 360
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53211
T: 414.963.6164
F: 414.967.9169
michael@pinixsoukup.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Paine's postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing where his claim set forth a claim of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence that a firearm matching the characteristics of the murder weapon was found in the possession of an individual (Ronald Terry) who threatened an eyewitness to the case and whose DNA was present at the crime scene?

The circuit court "adopt[ed] the State's brief *in toto*," and concluded that: (1) the evidence it was not new; (2) the evidence was not clear and convincing that the firearm was involved in the homicides or that Terry possessed it.

II. Alternatively, to the extent trial or appellate counsel could have presented these facts earlier, whether Paine received the ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel?

The circuit "adopt[ed] the State's brief *in toto*" and concluded that for the same reasons given in Issue I, counsels were not ineffective either.

III. Whether Paine's motion was sufficient for the circuit court to hold an evidentiary hearing?

The circuit court dismissed the petition without a hearing.

IV. Whether the real controversy was not tried where the jury was not given the opportunity to hear important evidence about the most important question in the case; who committed the homicides?

The circuit court did not address this question because it is properly raised for the first time in this court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Lawrence Paine would welcome oral argument where this case involves a complex set of facts and argument would likely assist the panel to understand the issues presented or answer any questions that may arise, unbeknownst to counsel, during the panel's review of the briefing.

Paine does not believe the Court's opinion in the instant case will meet the criteria for publication because resolution of the issues will involve no more than the application of well-settled rules of law and controlling precedent, with no call to question or qualify said precedent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 10, 2004, Janari Saddler and Aaron Harrington were shot to death in an upstairs flat of a Milwaukee duplex. (1:1-4). The central question in the homicides was identification. (190:103).individuals claimed that they were present, and that Lawrence Paine was the shooter. (1:2-4). But the State had no scientific evidence to support that Paine was the shooter. Despite DNA testing of several items located at the crime scene, Paine's DNA was nowhere to be found. (192:59). Paine also voluntarily went to the police to explain his whereabouts at the time of the offense. (193:48-49, 68). Despite the lack of scientific evidence and Paine's cooperation with the authorities. the State charged Paine with two charges of firstdegree intentional homicide. (6:1).

Jury trials

Paine was tried before a jury in February of 2005. (180:3). Notably, one of the individuals who claimed Paine was the shooter, George Donald, refused to come to trial. (179:3-4). The trial ended in a mistrial when the jury was unable to reach a verdict. (186:2-3). Nonetheless, the State decided to retry Paine. (188:4-5).

The shootings that occurred in the upstairs apartment happened in the early morning hours of April 10, 2004. (190:105-06). Specifically, the shooting occurred around 4:00 a.m. (192:90-91). One of the first responding officers arrived shortly after receiving the call, which was around 4:20 a.m. or possibly earlier. (190:111).

George Donald again refused to appear at the second trial, but the State was permitted to present a video deposition that was taken after the first trial. (190:3-7). In the deposition, Donald explained that he knew Lawrence Paine, who went by the name Chan. (189:11). The day leading up the shooting, Donald was with Janari Saddler. (189:12). They parted ways later, but around 3:00 or 3:30 a.m. (189:18-19). Donald went to Saddler's apartment, along with Aaron Harrington and Donta Weddle (aka "Huey"). (189:19-20). Paine was present in the apartment as well as others. (189:19). Donald stated that not long after he arrived, Janari returned to the apartment along with someone known as "E.I." (189:21).

According to Donald, when Janari arrived the incident began. (189:22). Janari complained about a car parked in the back and Paine became upset about it. (189:22-24). Donald stated that Janari tried to end the conversation, but Paine went to another room and returned with a gun. (189:24). Donald heard a gunshot and Janari ran to another part of the apartment. (189:24-25). Paine followed and Janari heard more

gunshots. (189:25-26). Paine left out of the back and door, and then Donald left the apartment. (189:26-27).

Donald admitted that when he was first interviewed about the shooting he lied. (189:58). He told detectives that he just happened upon bodies in the apartment, without mentioning anything about knowing what happened. (189:58). He admitted making up many other details as well. (189:58-59, 62-63).

Donald claimed that he lied because he was scared. (189:34). Donald denied being threatened by Janari's brother Leroy Saddler. (189:65). He also denied that Leroy told Donald he was disappointed by not talking to police. (189:65). But at the same, Donald agreed that he did attend and speak with family at Janari's funeral about the shooting. (189:59-60).

The other individual who claimed Paine was the shooter, Eric Howard, testified again at the second trial. (191:132). Howard was very close with Janari Saddler. (191:133). Saddler picked up Howard and brought up to the apartment shortly before the shooting was about to occur. (191:137). Howard testified that there were multiple people in the apartment including Paine and Donald. (191:138-39). Unlike Donald's testimony, Howard denied seeking Donta Weddle. (189:20); (191:160)

Howard testified that Saddler and Paine began fighting about Paine being followed and questioned Paine about parking his car outside when Saddler believed he was "hot." (191:140). Derrick Reed, whose testimony from the first trial was read during the second trial, testified that the only car outside was his car. (191:127-28).

Howard did not know how, but he noticed that Paine had a gun and pointed it at Saddler. (191:141). Saddler ran into another room and Paine followed. (191:141-42). Howard ran to the porch door with

others. (191:142). Howard heard multiple shots and a voice, not Saddler, saying, "Please, Chan, don't." (191:143). Howard claimed that Paine said, "I'll kill you and your cousin." (191:143).

Howard testified that he observed Paine came back into the living and then leave through the back door. (191:144-45). At the second trial, Howard claimed for the first time that Paine said, "something like wipe off something." (191:169-70). The State had already presented a fingerprint expert who claimed that wiping a surface can affect the detection of prints later. (191:88).

Howard agreed that, despite being present when his close friend was shot to death, he did not go the police initially. (191:172-73). All that he did was call 911 and give a vague address. Howard claimed he was scared. (191:172). Similar to Donald, Howard testified that it was after attending Saddler's funeral and talking to Janari's brother that Howard agreed to talk to police. (191:173-74).

When Paine learned that he became the focus of the investigation, he voluntarily came to the police to explain his alibi. (193:68). Paine explained to detectives that he was at the Paradise Club the night of the shooting, specifically the evening of April 9th into the early hours of April 10th. (193:46-48). After leaving the Club, he drove to Minneapolis overnight. (193:59). It was Easter weekend and Paine wanted to visit his child who was living with the child's mother in the Minneapolis area. (193:56).

Paine provided the details he could regarding his whereabouts to the detectives later. (193:49, 70-71). Paine told the detectives that he was with someone at the time. (193:50-52). Paine declined initially to give details about this person because this person wanted to avoid contact with law enforcement due to that person's own legal troubles. (193:102). But

during a subsequent interview, Paine explained that the person was known as Skin. (193:82-83).

Paine also told detectives that he stayed at the Super 8 hotel and had arrived around 8:30 a.m. (193:63). Paine said that when he left Minneapolis he returned to Wisconsin and spent time in Whitewater with Zenobia Davis. (193:67-68).

During its closing argument, the prosecution focused on George Donald and Eric Howard, as well as attacking Paine's alibi defense. (193:159-86, 202-11). The prosecutor emphasized to the jury that Paine was probably lying because he did not give sufficient details about "Skin." (193:180-86, 202-11). The prosecutor also relied on otherwise inadmissible¹ evidence that Paine had been impeached about which basketball team was playing at the time he was in Minneapolis. (193:186).

After deliberating, the jury found Paine guilty on both counts of homicide. (194:4-5). Paine was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of release. (101:1; App. 1); (195:40).

Direct Appeal

On appeal, Paine's appellate counsel argued, among other issues, that Paine's trial counsel was ineffective by failing to present alibi witnesses. (112:1-12). Specifically, trial counsel's failed to present Skin as a witness or Zenobia Davis as a witness to support Skin's existence. (112:9-11). The circuit court denied Paine's postconviction motion. (113:1-5).

However, this Court reversed the denial of the postconviction motion. *State v. Paine*, No. 2006AP2634-CR, slip op. at ¶¶16-18 (Ct. App. Nov. 6,

¹ The court of appeals determined later that the State's impeachment of Paine about the basketball game was prohibited. *State v. Paine*, No. 2006AP2634-CR, slip op. (Ct. App. Nov. 6, 2007); (119:11; App. 12).

2007); (119:9-10; App. 10-11). This Court determined that a determination of whether counsel was deficient for not calling the witnesses was premature. (119:9; App. 10). The Court also rejected the circuit court's view that there was no prejudice. (119:9-10; App. 10-11). The court concluded:

"In this case, Paine's credibility was essential to his defense. There is no physical evidence tying Paine to the crime. This case had once resulted in a hung jury. Without a hearing at which trial counsel's reasons for not calling these significant witnesses can be fully examined, we cannot conclude that failure to call a corroborating witness is neither deficient performance nor prejudicial." (119:10; App. 11).

On remand, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing regarding trial counsel's failure to call two alibi witnesses. (196:3); (197:3). Skin's mother, Ella Blackmon, testified about her son, Anthony Blackman, which by itself contradicted the argument the prosecutor made to the jury that Skin did not even exist. (197:5-9). She also explained that Skin had been shot in the chest and died on December 17, 2007, a month after this Court had ordered the case remanded. (197:5, 9)

The circuit court denied the petition again, finding that trial counsel was not deficient because despite counsel's efforts, Skin was difficult to find. (132:1-2). In addition, counsel's reasons for not calling Zenobia Davis about Skin were not objectively unreasonable. (132:1-2). The court of appeals affirmed. *State v. Paine*, No. 2008AP2307, slip op. (Ct. App. Nov. 24, 2009); (139:1-8; App. 15-22).

Postconviction petition

The following facts were argued by Paine in the petition he filed below that is part of the instant appeal. (151:1-20).

The firearm that was used to shoot Saddler and Harrington was not found at the scene. (193:208). Fired cartridge casings and a fired bullet were recovered; five silver "WIN" cartridge cases and one brass/gold "WCC" casing. (151:3). After the evidence was submitted to the Wisconsin crime lab, the report indicated that the casings were fired from the same firearm. (152:2; App. 27). The lab also indicated that the fired bullet was fired from a 9mm caliber firearm with six lands and grooves and a right-hand twist. (152:2; App. 27). In addition, the report noted that both the casings and bullet had characteristics similar to a very specific firearm; a 9mm Luger caliber, semi-automatic pistol manufactured by Sturm Ruger. (152:2; App. 27).

Months later, Milwaukee officers recovered a caliber. semi-automatic 9mm Luger pistol manufactured by Sturm Ruger. (152:2, 4, 16; App. 27, 29, 41). This firearm was obtained by the police during a drug raid on October 19, 2004. (152:3; App. 28). When officers entered the targeted residence, Ronald Q. Terry fled and ignored commands to stop. (152:3; App. 28). During Terry's flight up a flight of wooden stairs, the reporting officer indicated that he heard a distinct sound of metal striking wood. (152:3; App. 28). In the staircase, officers found the 9mm firearm, with one round in the chamber and nine more in the magazine, which were brass/gold and stamped "WIN." (152:3, 5; App. 28, 30).

Not only did the firearm was had the same characteristics identified by the crime lab months earlier, but Ronald Q. Terry was not a stranger to the case. (192:64-65). First, unlike Paine, Terry's DNA was found at the crime scene. (152:6-12; App. 31-37); (192:64-65). Second, as recounted in the following paragraphs, Terry intimidated a witness to the shooting, Sherika Ray. (152:13-15; App. 38-40).

Sherika Ray was one of the first persons to be questioned by the police about what she knew. (151:4). She lived directly below the apartment were the shooting occurred, and she home on April 10, 2004, at the time of the shooting. (152:14; App. 39).

Ray told officers that she heard fighting upstairs, then gunshots, and then she observed several people run from the residence. (151:4). A few days later, police went back to Ray to discuss what she knew. (151:4). Ray informed them that she was fearful for her and her children's safety because someone had tried to kick in her door and many people had come to her residence accusing her of knowing something about the incident. (151:4).

Months later, detectives went to Ray on February 1, 2005, to serve her with a subpoena for court. (152:13; App. 38). However, Ray immediately became upset and was "crying and shaking" due to the fear of coming to court. (152:13; App. 38). Ray informed the police that in October of 2004, she received a call from jail. (152:13; App. 38). October was also the time that officers recovered the firearm during the drug raid with Ronald Q. Terry present. (152:3; App. 38). The person who called Ray identified himself as "Q." (152:13; App. 38). This individual asked Ray what she knew about the double homicide. (152:13; App. 38). Out of fear, she told Q she did not witness anyone. (152:13; App. 38). This call led her to believe that something could happen to her if she cooperated with the police. (152:13; App. 38).

Ray told the police that her intimidation did not stop there. (152:13; App. 38). Not long after the call from Q, around Thanksgiving of 2004, Ronald Q. Terry came to Ray's mother's house, where Ray was staying because of her safety concerns. (152:13; App. 38). Terry drove her to the area of 22nd Street and entered a residence where others were present, including George

Donald (the person who testified against Paine). (152:13-14; App. 38-39).

When Ray was inside this residence, individuals were displaying weapons. (152:14; App. 39). Ray was scared. (152:14; App. 39). One of the individuals, named Hudson, questioned Ray about what she knew about the shooting and what she had told the police. (152:14; App. 39). She told the group that she never said anything to the police and only observed people running out of the house after some gunshots. (152:14; App. 39). A person named L.Z. Jolly, a.k.a. "Meaty," then said, "There are some people here that are playing both sides," which Ray took to mean that people thought she was betraying them. (152:14; App. 39). Ray felt intimated and left. (152:14; App. 39).

During that same interview on February 1, 2005, Ray also told the detectives more details regarding the shooting. (152:14; App. 39). She told them that at the time of the confrontation she heard, "Are you going to rob me." (152:14; App. 39). This contradicted witnesses who would testify at trial, as well as the State's theory that the shooting was not a robbery. (193:161). Ray also asked the detectives for protection, and they offered their personal phone numbers and to call 911 in case of emergency. (152:14; App. 39). No one was investigated or charged for the felony of witness intimidation. The State never presented this information to the jury either.

When Terry was arrested at the same time as the firearm was recovered, officers recognized that it should be tested against the evidence at the double-homicide crime scene. (152:16-17; App. 41-42). Detective Gilbert Hernandez, a lead detective in this case, asked the crime lab to compare the Terry firearm to the evidence from the double-homicide. (152:13, 16-17; App 41-42). The lab issued a report that stated, "none of the evidence [taken from the double-homicide crime scene] was fired [from the recovered firearm]."

(152:18; App 43). No explanation was given for that conclusion. Moreover, Mark Simonson, testified at Paine's trial that no gun was ever given to him during this case, even though the lab clearly had been given a gun. (192:35).

The same firearm was eventually returned to rightful owner Glen Hanson. (152:19-21; App. 44-46). Hanson agreed to have his firearm tested by Paine's current counsel. (152:20; App. 45). The test-fired bullets had, consistent with the characteristics of the crime scene evidence, six lands and grooves with a right-hand twist. (152:25; App. 50).

Before litigating the motion, Paine asked the District Attorney's office to release the underlying basis for the report that indicated the Hanson/Terry firearm was not used in the homicides. (168:1). The State refused. (168:1).

Paine filed a motion arguing that these facts that were unheard from the jury established his actual innocence, when considering the other evidence that established his innocence that had been presented. (151:6-17). Alternatively, he argued that if these facts were not new, they should have been pursued by his trial counsel and his appellate counsel should have argued the issue in his appeal. (151:17-19).

After briefing, the circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. (169:1-3; App. 23-25). The court adopted the State's brief *in toto*. (169:3; App. 25). The court found that it was not conclusively shown that the firearm matched, even though the State refused to provide the information. (169:2; App. 24). The court also found that it was not conclusive that Terry possessed the firearm. (169:2; App. 24).

Paine appealed. (170:1).

ARGUMENT

I. LAWRENCE PAINE'S **CONVICTIONS** AND SHOULD BE SENTENCES VACATED WHERE EVIDENCE NOT PRESENTED TO THE JURY **(1)** SHOWS THAT: \mathbf{A} **FIREARM MATCHES CHARACTERISTICS** OF THE CRIME-SCENE FIREARM EVIDENCE; (2) THAT FIREARM WAS CONNECTED TO RONALD TERRY; (3) TERRY'S DNA WAS PRESENT AT THE CRIME SCENE UNLIKE PAINE; AND (4) TERRY INTIMIDATED A WITNESS.

The jury who found Paine guilty never heard the compelling evidence that Ronald Q. Terry and others intimidated Sherika Ray about testifying. Police reports document in detail Ray's multiple accounts of intimidation. Plus, the most chilling instance of intimidation occurred not long after the police arrested Terry for possession of the firearm, which despite the crime lab's statement it did not match, subsequent testing has shown it has characteristics consistent with the crime scene evidence. These facts, along with those supporting Paine's alibi, constitutes newly discovered evidence of Paine's innocence requiring vacating his convictions and sentences.

Paine's claim of innocence arises out of his constitutional right to due process. Spencer v. Texas, 385 U.S. 554, 563-64, 87 S.Ct. 648 (1967); State v. Love, 2005 WI 116, ¶43, n.18, 284 Wis.2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62; State v. Bembenek, 140 Wis.2d 248, 252, 409 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1987); State v. Fosnow, 2001 WI App 2, ¶8, 240 Wis.2d 699, 624 N.W.2d 883. The constitution provides that a conviction must be reversed outright if the evidence, viewed in a light favorable to the prosecution, fails to show that any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781

(1979); State v. DeLain, 2005 WI 52, ¶11, 280 Wis.2d 51, 695 N.W.2d 484. "The correct legal standard when applying the 'reasonable probability of a different outcome' criteria is whether there is a reasonable probability that a jury, looking at both the [old and the new evidence], would have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt." State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, 474, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997).

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