RECEIVED
02-19-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP1677

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LAWRENCE C. PAINE,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING A WIS. STAT. § 974.06 MOTION, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Paine is wrong. The new report about the gun that was tested in 2004 is not newly-discovered evidence. It is newly-appreciated evidence.

In State v. Fosnow, this Court held that newlydiscovered evidence does not include a "new appreciation of the importance of evidence previously known but not used." 240 Wis. 2d 699, ¶ 9 (citation omitted). In that case, a psychiatrist diagnosed the defendant with dissociative identity disorder after his conviction on several felonies. When he received the diagnosis, the defendant filed a motion to withdraw his pleas of no contest because the *new* diagnosis would show he was not criminally responsible for his acts. *Id.* ¶ 5. He argued that the new diagnosis constituted newlydiscovered evidence that entitled him to withdraw his no contest plea. Id. However, this Court noted that, extensive psychiatric information about the defendant was available at the time of the plea. Accordingly, this Court held that the new diagnosis was merely the new appreciation of the importance of existing evidence. Id. ¶ 12. And, because "[n]ewly discovered evidence . . . does not include 'the new appreciation

⁶ A gun was never recovered at the scene of the homicides, only six casings and a bullet. (R. 152:2.)

Following Fosnow and Vara, this Court should conclude that the new report is nothing more than the newly discovered importance of existing evidence—not newly discovered evidence. Such a holding would also be consistent with State v. Slagoski, 2001 WI App 112, ¶ 11, 244 Wis. 2d 49, 629 N.W.2d 50, where this Court held that the existence of a post-sentencing contradictory psychiatric report, based on old information, does not constitute a new factor for purposes of sentence modification. As this Court stated in that case, a contradictory report merely confirms that mental health professionals will sometimes disagree on matters of diagnosis. Id.

In this case, as Paine acknowledged in his brief, "[t]he firearm was returned to its rightful owner before the second

⁷ In *Fosnow*, this Court cited a Washington Court of Appeals decision that stated:

[[]W]e must ask whether all of those defendants who could now unearth a new expert, who finds "new facts"-which if believed by the same jury might cause them to acquit-were denied a fair trial, i.e. failed to receive substantial justice. Surely we have to answer in the negative, or finality goes by the boards and the system fails.

State v. Fosnow, 2001 WI App 2, ¶ 26, 240 Wis. 2d 699, 624 N.W.2d 883 (quoting State v. Harper, 64 Wash. App. 283, 823 P.2d 1137, 1143 (Wash. App. 1992)).

trial began and [the] State had asserted it was not a match." (Paine's Br. 16.) Had Paine wanted to hire an expert to contest the Crime Lab's conclusion or test the gun, he could have done so back in 2004. But he didn't, and so several years after his conviction he is offering a new report on the same gun.

This is not newly-discovered, it is newly-appreciated evidence. Paine fails to differentiate the evidence that was available for inspection in 2004 from his new 2018 report; it is a test of the *same* firearm. The 2018 report is nothing more than the newly-opined importance of existing evidence. It is not newly discovered.

But even if this Court were to stretch the definition of newly-discovered evidence to include this new report on old information, Paine's failure to discover this "new" information clearly arose from a lack of diligence. See In re Commitment of Williams, 2001 WI App 155, ¶ 18, 246 Wis. 2d 722, 631 N.W.2d 623. As the owner of the gun provided in his affidavit (attached to Paine's postconviction motion), while the gun was stolen from the owner 15 years ago, it was returned to him "10 or 11 years ago." (R. 152:20.) It can hardly be said that Paine was "diligent" in seeking a report on the gun when it took him more than a decade to obtain it. Accordingly, the evidence does not meet the second element of newly-discovered evidence. See McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d at 473.

The 2018 report is also not material to an issue in Paine's case because the report does not provide (1) Terry *ever* possessed the gun found on the staircase six months after the

⁸ See Wis. Stat. § 805.15(3)(b), providing that evidence is not newly discovered if, among other factors, "[t]he moving party's failure to discover the evidence earlier did not arise from lack of diligence in seeking to discover it."

⁹ (See also Paine's Br. 16 (providing "[t]he firearm was returned to its rightful owner before the second trial began and [the] State had asserted it was not a match.").)

Case 2019AP001677 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2020 Page 18 of 31

homicides, or (2) the gun found on the staircase was the same gun that was used to kill Saddler and Harrington, or (3) that the Crime Lab's determination that the gun found on the staircase six months after the double homicides was not the gun used to kill Saddler and Harrington was erroneous. Finally, the report lists 138 other "9mm Luger caliber firearms" that had the same "general rifling characterizes." (R. 152:25–26.) The new report is not material as to who killed Saddler and Harrington, and therefore it does not meet *McCallum's* third prong. *McCallum*, 208 Wis. 2d at 473.

Finally, a reasonable probability does not exist that had the jury heard the results of the 2018 firearm report, that it would have had a reasonable doubt as to Paine's guilt. *See McCallum*, 208 Wis. 2d at 473. The results of the report do nothing to change the fact that two witnesses identified Paine being in the duplex at the time of the shooting, that Paine was upset with Saddler before the shooting, and that Harrington, who was at the duplex with Paine and Saddler at the time of the shootings, yelled, "Don't kill me!" right before he was shot. (R-App. 103, 115–16.)

Paine has not met all of *McCalllum's* factors that the evidence is newly-discovered. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying him a new trial without an evidentiary hearing. Should this Court disagree, this Court's remedy would be to remand for an evidentiary hearing on this claim, where the circuit court can determine if Paine can prove the allegations in the matter and then issue findings of fact and conclusions of law as to whether Paine's evidence constitutes newly-discovered evidence.

II. The 2018 report is not admissible as thirdparty perpetrator evidence.¹⁰

Page 19 of 31

Paine next argues that "Terry's connection" to the firearm constitutes third-party perpetrator evidence under *State v. Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984) and that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing to show a legitimate tendency that Terry committed the homicides. (Paine's Br. 21, 25–26.) Paine is wrong. *Nothing* in the 2018 firearm report "connects" Terry to the double homicide that Paine committed in 2004.

A. General legal principles related to the admissibility of evidence that a third party committed the offense.

The *Denny* "legitimate tendency" test "is the correct and constitutionally proper test for circuit courts to apply when determining the admissibility of [known] third-party perpetrator evidence." *State v. Wilson*, 2015 WI 48, ¶ 52, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52. A legitimate tendency is shown where the defendant can establish (1) the motive and (2) the opportunity to commit the charged crime, and (3) can provide "some evidence to directly connect a third person to the crime charged which is not remote in time, place or circumstance." Denny, 120 Wis. 2d at 623–24.

This Court reviews a circuit court's decision to admit evidence under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard. Wilson, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 47.

14

¹⁰ Paine did not raise this issue until he filed his postconviction *reply* brief. (R. 167:6.) The State therefore did not get an opportunity to respond below, and the circuit court did not rule on this issue. (R. 169.)

B. Whether third-party perpetrator evidence should have been admitted is not properly before this Court.

In this case, Paine never asked the trial court to admit third-party perpetrator evidence—the 2018 firearm report—as it was not in existence during his trial. This Court therefore has no discretionary decision for it to review on appeal. The *proper* legal procedure for Paine's claim is to attempt to seek a new trial under newly-discovered evidence. It is not for this Court to remand to the postconviction court so it can conduct an evidentiary hearing to review a *Denny* issue that was never in front of the trial court.

C. The 2018 report does not show a legitimate tendency that Terry committed the homicides.

Should this Court disagree, it still should not remand for an evidentiary hearing. The 2018 report does not show Terry's motive, nor does it in any way "directly connect" Terry to the 2004 homicides that Paine was convicted of. *See Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 623–24.

1. The new report does not show Terry's motive to commit the homicides.

First, while Paine argues that in addition to the report there is also evidence that Terry's DNA was found at the crime scene and that Terry intimidated a witness (Paine's Br. 22), it is undisputed that this evidence was available before trial. (R. 152:13–14.) And, the fact that Terry's DNA evidence was found at the crime scene *was admitted* during trial. (R. 192:57–61, 64–65.) The State therefore focuses its analysis on the new report.

The Wilson court determined that under the motive prong, this Court must ask: "[D]id the alleged third-party

perpetrator have a plausible reason to commit the crime?" 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 57. A defendant is never required to prove motive with "substantial certainty"; instead, "relevant evidence of motive is generally admissible." *Id.* ¶ 63. In this case, the new report says nothing about Terry and nothing about a plausible motive of Terry's. (R. 152:25–29.) The report lacks *any* information about Terry having a specific, personal motive to target Saddler and Harrington. (*Id.*) Paine cannot establish Terry's motive.

2. The new report does not show a direct connection of Terry to the homicides.

The third prong of the *Denny* test ¹¹ asks whether there is "evidence that the alleged third-party perpetrator actually committed the crime, directly or indirectly?" *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 59. "The 'legitimate tendency' test asks whether the proffered evidence is so remote in time, place or circumstances that a direct connection cannot be made between the third person and the crime." *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 624. "[C]ircuit courts must assess the proffered evidence in conjunction with all other evidence to determine whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the evidence suggests that a third-party perpetrator *actually committed* the crime." *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 71. "[D]irect connection evidence should firm up the defendant's theory of the crime and take it

¹¹ The State does not concede that Paine established the opportunity prong of *Denny*. But given the many other grounds upon which this Court should affirm, for briefing purposes the State proceeds on the assumption that because he was at the crime scene (R. 190:101), Terry had the opportunity to kill Saddler and Harrington. *See State v. Wilson*, 2015 WI 48, ¶ 65, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52 (providing that evidence of opportunity will "often, but not always, amount[] to a showing that the defendant was at the crime scene or known to be in the vicinity when the crime was committed.").

beyond mere speculation." Id. ¶ 59. Courts must "look for some direct connection between the third party and the perpetration of the crime." Id. ¶ 71.

Paine argues that "[t]he report shows compelling evidence that Terry possessed [the gun], or the very least, had a connection to it." (Paine's Br. 24.) Paine is wrong. The report shows no evidence that Terry either possessed or had a connection to the gun. (R. 152:25–29.) The report is silent as to anyone having possession of or connection to the gun. (Id.) Terry's name is not mentioned anywhere in the report. (Id.) Nor does the report conclude that the firearm was the firearm used during the homicides of Saddler and Harrington. (Id.) The report offers no direct connection between Terry and the homicides. (Id.)

Paine fails to show that the 2018 report constitutes third-party perpetrator evidence. He is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

III. Alternatively, Paine fails to show that postconviction counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel. He is therefore not entitled to an evidentiary hearing.¹²

Paine next makes an alternative argument that "appellate counsel¹³ rendered ineffective assistance by not arguing trial counsel's ineffectiveness." (Paine's Br. 26.) But

¹² While Paine's appellate brief discusses whether he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in two separate sections (Sections II and III, pg. 26–30) the State responds to both arguments in this Section.

 $^{^{13}}$ As indicated in n.2 *supra*, while Burns refers to "appellate" counsel in his brief, the State assumes for purposes of responding that Burns means "postconviction" counsel. If Burns has a claim against his appellate counsel, Burns needs to file a *Knight* petition with this Court. *Kyles*, 354 Wis. 2d 626, ¶ 38.

Case 2019AP001677 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2020 Page 23 of 31

Paine does not show that a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel was "clearly stronger" than the issues that his postconviction counsel raised. His claim is therefore procedurally barred.

A. Standard of review

Wisconsin Stat. § 974.06 promotes finality and efficiency by requiring defendants to bring all available claims in a single proceeding unless there exists a sufficient reason for not raising some claims in that initial proceeding. See State v. Escalona–Naranjo, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 185, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994). Whether a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion alleges a sufficient reason for failing to bring available claims earlier is a question of law that is subject to de novo review. State v. Kletzien, 2011 WI App 22, ¶ 16, 331 Wis. 2d 640, 794 N.W.2d 920. Similarly, whether a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion alleges sufficient facts to require a hearing is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 18, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334.

B. A defendant has a high burden in proving ineffective assistance of counsel.

As previously indicated, a criminal defendant must raise all available claims in the direct appeal or postconviction motion. *Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d at 181. While constitutional claims may be brought pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.06(1) after the time for an appeal has passed, a defendant may not pursue subsequent claims that could have been raised in the direct appeal or in an earlier motion absent a "sufficient reason" for not raising it earlier. Wis. Stat. § 974.06(4); *see also State v. Lo*, 2003 WI 107, ¶ 31, 264 Wis. 2d 1, 665 N.W.2d 756; *Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d at 181–82. Ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel *may* constitute a sufficient reason as to why an issue that could

Case 2019AP001677 Brief of Respondent Filed 02-19-2020 Page 24 of 31

have been raised on direct appeal was not. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, $\P\P$ 37, 62.

To prevail on an ineffectiveness claim, a defendant must show deficient performance that prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). That is, he must show both that counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed . . . by the Sixth Amendment," and the errors "deprive[d] the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." Id. at 687. The defendant bears the burden of overcoming a strong presumption that counsel acted reasonably within professional norms. Id. A postconviction attorney is "strongly presumed to have rendered" adequate assistance. Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 25.

C. Paine's claim of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel is procedurally barred.

To prevail on his ineffectiveness claim as to postconviction counsel, Paine must demonstrate that his ineffective-assistance-of-trial-counsel claim was "clearly stronger" than the claim his postconviction counsel *did* advance. *See State v. Romero-Georgana*, 2014 WI 83, ¶ 4, 360 Wis. 2d 522, 849 N.W.2d 668. Paine fails to satisfy the "clearly stronger" pleading standard.

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